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THE TRIBUNAL RESUMED ON THE 11TH OF NOVEMBER, 2011, AT

11 A.M. AS FOLLOWS:  

CHAIRMAN:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  

MRS. LAVERTY:  Morning, Chairman.  There are two ex-Telecom 

witnesses for you this morning.  The first one is 

Mr. William Prendergast.  
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WILLIAM PRENDERGAST, HAVING BEEN SWORN, WAS EXAMINED BY.

MRS. LAVERTY AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MRS. LAVERTY:  Mr. Prendergast, good morning.  I think you 1

joined the Investigation Branch of An Post in December 

1979, and you served there as an investigation officer and 

senior investigation officer until 1999?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. And your duties involved the investigation of offences 2

against the Department of Post and Telegraphs until 1984, 

and An Post and Telecom then on an agency basis until 1999, 

when you were promoted Assistant Principal? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, I think that in around 2006, Detective Inspector Chris 3

Kelly showed you an article which appeared in Phoenix on 

the June 3rd, 2005? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And in that, there was a suggestion that there had been an 4

investigation carried out into an intercept which was found 

in Dundalk Garda Station, and it was -- did he ask you 

about that? 

A. It was an intercept in Dundalk Exchange, in The Ramparts in 

Dundalk. 

Q. In The Ramparts Exchange, I beg your pardon.  5

A. Yes. 

Q. And you were asked if you had any information about that? 6

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. And did you have occasion to visit Dundalk, The Ramparts in 7

Dundalk over the years that you were in the Investigation 

Branch? 
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A. I had, on a number of occasions I visited The Ramparts to 

undertake various Telecom inquiries. 

Q. And what sort of inquiries would they be? 8

A. Generally, it would be anything, nuisance calling, abusive 

calling, that sort of stuff generally.  I generally 

wouldn't have anything to do with any interceptions, that 

sort of stuff. 

Q. Yes.  And do you recall carrying out any inquiry, I am not 9

going to go into the details because I think it's been well 

dealt with by previous witnesses in this article or the -- 

how it was set up.  But do you recall at any stage carrying 

out an investigation into an intercept in Dundalk -- 

A. Yes, when -- 

Q. -- at The Ramparts? 10

A. When I was initially approached by Inspector Kelly in the 

matter, it was in relation to a Garda inquiry, I think, a 

previous inquiry, and it struck me at that time - that was 

the first time he showed me the article, I hadn't seen it 

before that - and reading through the article, immediately 

it struck me that the language in it and the whole set-up 

as stated was similar to an inquiry that I had undertaken 

in Dundalk -- 

Q. Yes.11

A.  -- during my term in the Investigation Branch. 

Q. And what reminded you of it?  What sounded familiar to you? 12

A. I am not a technician, and I recall before undertaking 

that, whoever was speaking to me from Eircom would have 

gone through the brief with me and the language that was in 

the thing, such as MDF, jumper, certain things and then the 

general thing about just the fact that it was an 
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interception.  Now, the only thing that struck me that I 

didn't know anything about, that didn't tie in what - and I 

have it my statement - that didn't tie in with what was in 

the article was a reference to a private wire.  That didn't 

ring any bells with me in relation to my inquiry, the 

inquiry I undertake, so I can't say and I don't know if 

they were in any way connected, but what I'm saying is that 

I did undertake an inquiry at The Ramparts in Dundalk in 

relation to an interference on the MDF. 

Q. And this would have been a jumper wire, that would have 13

been spotted by somebody? 

A. When I got there -- I have no recollection of being shown 

any equipment or any jumpers in situ and my -- I think I 

would have remembered that, so I must draw the conclusion 

that that was -- that it was gone when I had been -- it had 

been removed at that time. 

Q. And obviously it would be in whoever's line was being 14

intercepted, it would be in their interests as well that it 

would be removed? 

A. Well, my understanding was that it was on -- I think it was 

described to me as a spare set.  It wasn't actually a line 

in use, that's my recollection at the time; that the jumper 

or the interception was on a spare set. 

Q. I see.15

A. A spare line.

Q. So it wasn't of any particular significance? 16

A. No. 

Q. And I presume in the normal way this was picked up and 17

reported as soon as it was ascertained? 

A. Well, again, my vague recollection of it is that I was 
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actually doing other Post Office work in the area and I was 

diverted to -- whatever way this came through the channels, 

it came through by telephone to me to go to Dundalk and to 

investigate. 

Q. Yes.  And I think there is a very strict protocol in 18

relation to investigations because of the sensitivity of 

the security of The Ramparts? 

A. Well, Ramparts is a secure building, it's a Telephone 

Exchange, it's normally secure, but...  

Q. And a likely target for terrorists, shall we put it that 19

way, at the time? 

A. I presume.  As I said, I am not in that end of things so I 

presume, I presume, yes, that any amount of intelligence 

could be gained by someone gaining access to an Exchange, 

yes.  

Q. And tell me, was there any suggestion at the time that a 20

recording device had been found?  Were you shown anything 

like that? 

A. No, I wasn't shown anything, and there may have been an 

indication that there was a possibility of -- I mean, I am 

not a technician -- presumably the idea of the jumper and 

the cable going from it is that a signal is receivable by 

another piece of apparatus at the other end, wherever that 

might be, and that might include a recorder, it might not 

include it. 

Q. But you weren't -- 21

A. No, it wasn't.  It could be a headset where a normal 

technician would use as a headset, et cetera, you know.  

Q. Presumably, if there had been one there, since the incident 22

was reported and you came down to investigate it, Telecom 
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would have shown you this particular --  

A. Yes, I would imagine -- 

Q. -- if there was one? 23

A. Absolutely.  I don't recall any mention of any equipment 

being found other than the jumper and the wire at the -- 

Q. And were you taken down, do you recall if you were taken 24

down into the cable chamber and shown any damage -- 

A. No. 

Q.  -- to any equipment down there? 25

A. No, no. 

Q. And have you any idea when this actually happened? 26

A. No.  I really -- I haven't, because as I say, the period of 

time I was in the investigation was a significant period of 

time.  I couldn't say.  

Q. Yes.  Now, I think that there would have been a lot of 27

legal intercepts in The Ramparts in Dundalk, isn't that 

correct? 

A. Again, it's not my area of involvement in the Investigation 

Branch, but I understand that the legal system that is in 

place allows for authorised interceptions, and they could 

be in any Exchange at any time. 

Q. And they would have to be checked all the time, isn't that 28

so? 

A. Again, I don't know.

Q. You don't know.  Now, the article suggested that on the day 29

of the murders, that phone calls were intercepted on a 

private wire in which arrangements were made for the 

meetings of Breen and Buchanan and the Garda personnel in 

Dundalk.  As it transpires, you may not know this, but 

there wasn't any private wire between Armagh and Dundalk?  
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A. No, I have no knowledge. 

Q. And that was in March 1989.  Now, do you know if this 30

incident that you recall was prior to that or after that? 

A. I have an idea, what I can say and I have said it in my 

statement, I would imagine that if it had have happened 

anywhere, any time span that I could draw that it would hit 

me that there might be a connection, would have -- it 

didn't -- whatever time it was at.  I certainly didn't draw 

any connection between the two incidents. 

Q. As an experienced investigator you would have, presumably? 31

A. Absolutely, I think I would have. 

Q. It would have raised red flags? 32

A. Red flags straight away.

Q. And what was your view of the particular incident that you 33

came down and reported on; was it of any significance? 

A. You know, to me, nothing emerged from my inquiries to 

suggest there was any seriousness to it.  It could have 

been any number of reasons.  It could have been a prank, 

you know, if someone wanted to draw attention.  It could 

have been someone using a line for some other purpose.  I 

don't know, I just haven't -- I can't say, I don't know.  I 

can't think of...

Q. And I think that when -- after Detective Inspector Kelly 34

spoke to you, you indicated to him that there were normally 

records, there was very precise record-keeping?

A. Yes.

Q. And that there probably would be a record of whatever -- 35

whenever this took place? 

A. Yes. 

Q. But I think that no such records were found? 36
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A. Well, after the initial conversation I advised him that the 

best way to find out the date I was there was to examine a 

book called the "Docket Book", where records of all -- and 

I also said there would be a copy of my report on file in 

the Investigation Branch.  It transpired that both couldn't 

be located. 

Q. Yes.  And I assume that if it was anything of significance, 37

it probably would have been kept? 

A. It depends on the time-lag.  Everything is not kept -- 

paper records at that time and everything is not kept 

indefinitely.  I would imagine the book should have been 

available, but I think it was transferred to when we 

finally gave up the agency service and it wasn't available. 

Q. And have you any recollection of having been advised that 38

the alleged interception related to a private wire used by 

the Garda? 

A. No. 

Q. And I assume that that is something that would have been 39

brought to your attention because of you being an 

investigator at that time, if such was the case? 

A. Any mention of any Garda phone obviously would have 

heightened my interest and elevated the inquiry to a more 

serious level. 

Q. Yes.  And was there anything involved in this incident 40

which required further investigation by you? 

A. My impression -- it wasn't very serious.  I went back and 

reported it, that I would have interviewed the staff, found 

no evidence of, say, a crime being committed, and I would 

have reported it accordingly.  As far as I am aware, there 

was never any further action in the matter.
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Q. And would I be correct in thinking that it indicated that 41

the personnel in The Ramparts were keeping a very close 

watch and reporting any incidents that were out of the 

ordinary, to persons such as yourself in the Investigation 

Branch? 

A. Yes, that's right.  Yes, as you alluded to earlier on, I 

would imagine that the local engineering officer would 

examine the frame regularly, and I think that is how it 

came to our attention, that it was probably an 

investigation of the frame. 

Q. Yes.  And did you discuss -- did the question of the 42

article and the issues raised in the article, did you 

discuss it with any other colleagues to see if anyone had a 

recollection of it? 

A. I discussed it with my colleague who would normally deal 

with such matters, and he had no recollection.  I also 

discussed it with the Deputy Chief at the time.  In 

fairness, nobody in the Investigation Branch, other than 

myself, had any recollection of this inquiry. 

Q. And you don't think there is anything of significance and 43

you can't recall exactly when it happened? 

A. No.

MRS. LAVERTY:  No.  Thank you very much, Mr. Prendergast.  

THE WITNESS WAS CROSS-EXAMINED BY MR. DURACK AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MR. DURACK:  Just a couple of questions.  My name is 44

Michael Durack, and I appear on behalf of An Garda 

Siochana.  You were down in the area, you say, doing some 
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other business?  

A. Yes. 

Q. And what was the nature of that business? 45

A. 80 percent of our work was investigating Post Office -- 

offences against An Post.  It could be theft of mail, 

interference with financial instruments such as 

savings-bank books, et cetera, fraudulent withdrawals, 

et cetera.  What would happen is that, once a month, a list 

of files that needed to be investigated for an area would 

be gathered together and an investigation officer would go 

out for a week in the general area, the northeast, or 

whatever else, and be on the road undertaking such 

inquiries. 

Q. So you were looking into post offices rather than 46

telecommunications? 

A. At the time I would have been -- well, at the time there 

may have been Telecom inquiries, low level Telecom 

inquiries such as nuisance calls and stuff like that.  You 

would do all -- you know, I couldn't tell you what the 

breakdown of it, but in general it would be mainly Post 

Office work, there could be some Telecom work. 

Q. Yes.  But you were in the general area of Dundalk, is that 47

it?

A. I was in the general area, yes. 

Q. And how did you come to get this particular assignment that 48

you think -- 

A. By telephone, as far as I recall, by telephone from my 

headquarters. 

Q. Yes.  So somebody rang you and said would you ever look 49

into the Exchange? 
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A. Yes, there is a report of -- the language, "Would you go up 

and speak to the engineering superintendent." 

Q. And what you think was there was, there may have been a 50

jumper on an unused line? 

A. I don't remember seeing the jumper there.  I would have 

been told, my recollection is that I was told that there 

was a jumper had been found with a wire running from it to 

a chamber or a culvert.  

Q. And as far as you were aware, I suppose, an unused and 51

unassigned line? 

A. My recollection at the time was I was told the jumper was 

on an unassigned line, yes.  

Q. If it had been an assigned line, you would have been much 52

more concerned about it? 

A. Well, again, it would give me somewhere to start doing an 

inquiry:  Who did the phone line belong to?  You know, was 

it a member of the public, was it a member of the Garda 

Siochana?  It would -- obviously there would be other areas 

to be investigated. 

Q. So, do I take it then it was a very short trip, your visit 53

to the station? 

A. It would have been all over possibly in the one day, yes.  

But staff -- we would go through the normal thing, the 

staff would have to be interviewed in a case like that to 

see had anybody -- a genuine explanation were they using 

for tests, whatever, to see if we could ascertain why the 

jumper would have been on the frame. 

Q. And did you that? 54

A. As far as I recollect I did. 

Q. And you didn't find anything unusual about it? 55
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A. No. 

Q. And in fact, you mentioned the word, it may have been a 56

prank? 

A. I don't know, it could have been anything, you know. 

Q. But, in any case, it wasn't in connection with the Garda 57

station? 

A. This jumper, my recollection it was on a spare set.  It was 

not on any number that was assigned. 

Q. I see.  And you did this investigation yourself? 58

A. Normal protocol.  My recollection is that there was three 

Detective Sergeants assigned to the Investigation Branch at 

the time, and on an inquiry of that nature I would normally 

have a Detective Sergeant available. 

Q. And would he have been with you all the time? 59

A. No, he probably would have met me at the -- sometimes, it 

depends -- it's hard to describe.  If you are doing cases 

where we suspect that there may be -- an arrest might be 

required, say for instance theft of mail, et cetera, we 

would normally travel in the company of one of the Garda 

Sergeants assigned. 

Q. But you weren't at this particular stage because you 60

think -- 

A. But I'm not sure what business was there.  My recollection 

is that there would have been a Sergeant present, yes.  

Q. For what or when?  I mean, where did you get the Sergeant 61

from? 

A. It's only Dundalk, it's only an hour down the road.  We had 

three Sergeants assigned to us that actually worked in the 

Investigation Branch, they were seconded from Harcourt 

Terrace, and they had their own office in the Investigation 
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Branch.  And if -- I am telling you, my memory is not 

clear, but I would imagine in a case like that, if I was 

getting directed by our chief to go and look at something 

in Dundalk Exchange that was a possible interception, that 

I would have been joined at some stage by -- and I have 

said that in the statement, that I suspect that I would 

have been accompanied by one of -- 

Q. But you don't have any clear recollection? 62

A. Absolutely, no.  It's 20-odd -- you know, I actually don't.  

I have done thousands and thousands of cases with guards, 

et cetera.  I just don't have the clear recollection I 

would like to have. 

Q. And you went to the station to look at something or just to 63

talk to the people involved?  Sorry, you went to the 

Exchange?  There was nothing for you to see?

A. I didn't know that until I got there.  My instruction would 

have been that there was an allegation of interception and 

would I go and investigate.  You are not given the details, 

you go and investigate.  What you find, you find, and what 

is not there is not there. 

Q. When you got there you would have spoken to the chief 64

technician? 

A. Whoever would have been in Telecom in charge at the time. 

Q. Whoever made the complaint? 65

A. I'm not sure, I can't say that.  I don't know who made...

Q. What I mean is, somebody would have explained to you what 66

you were there for? 

A. It could have been somebody else, it could have come from 

Drogheda, from the Chief Superintendent, or whatever, and I 

was meeting the man that was in charge at the time.  I 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

Smithwick Tribunal - 10 November 2011 - Day 52

Doyle Court Reporters Ltd.

14

don't know, I can't recall whether the man I was speaking 

with was actually the man that found it.  I haven't got 

those details. 

Q. And there are no records available?67

A. Absolutely, and I wish there were.

Q. In any case, you were satisfied as a result of your 68

investigation that it wasn't anything of any significance? 

A. No, in my mind, the investigation concluded at the thing 

with no evidence of any serious interception or wrongdoing, 

and that I would have reported it accordingly. 

Q. And presumably, equally, if you thought it was something 69

serious, you would have a much clearer recollection of it?

A. Absolutely.  What can I say?  There was no reason for it 

being there.  I couldn't establish a reason but, similarly, 

I didn't establish any negative reason for it being there, 

that there was anything such as a genuine interception. 

Q. There was nothing significant about what you found? 70

A. No, no, I felt at the time. 

Q. And you did this yourself in the course of the day, you 71

think? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. I see.  And you did this job on your own, I take it?  This 72

was one of the jobs you were assigned and you did it on 

your own? 

A. I presume, and I think in the company of a Detective 

Sergeant.  

MR. DURACK:  Thank you very much.  

MR. LEHANE:  No questions.  
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MS. O'SULLIVAN:  No questions.  

CHAIRMAN:  Very good.  Anything arising?  

MRS. LAVERTY:  No.  

CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much.  I am grateful to you.  

THE WITNESS THEN WITHDREW. 

MRS. LAVERTY:  Mr. John O'Halloran, Chairman.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

Smithwick Tribunal - 10 November 2011 - Day 52

Doyle Court Reporters Ltd.

16

JOHN O'HALLORAN, HAVING BEEN SWORN, WAS EXAMINED BY

MRS. LAVERTY AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MRS. LAVERTY:  Now, good morning, Mr. O'Halloran.  I think 73

that you have -- you worked with Telecom for many years, up 

to about seven or eight years ago when you started your own 

consulting firm, is that right?  

A. That's right, up until January '99. 

Q. Yes.  And I think that you were the District Manager, is 74

that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And you would have been effectively overseeing the area and 75

The Ramparts, is that correct? 

A. Yes, I would have been overseeing the northeast of the 

country on behalf of Telecom Eireann's business, yes.

Q. And I think that you are a consulting engineer, is that 76

correct? 

A. Now, yes. 

Q. And I think of -- The Ramparts was established in 1984, and 77

I think it was a very modern Telephone Exchange, is that 

correct? 

A. Yes, it would have been. 

Q. And it had very modern security.  It had, for example, the 78

first example of palisade fencing? 

A. Correct, yes. 

Q. And what other precautions were taken to ensure its 79

security? 

A. Well, there was the palisade fencing which you mention and 

two other lines of defence.  One was the access through 

this palisade fencing by an entry gate, an external entry 
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gate which was controlled by a camera and remotely operated 

by staff within the building on the basis of visibility of 

the people at the gate or their car number plates.  And 

once someone had passed that particular hurdle, once they 

reached the door of the Exchange itself, then they had 

to -- there was an intercom as well there, so they had a -- 

I can't remember whether it was a card or a key or a code, 

but there was a further security obstacle to be reached at 

the building.  The actual building itself was an extremely 

solid structure of a building, yes.  

Q. And I think that the -- you had the cable chamber in the 80

basement and then you had various other rooms on the first 

floor and then the Telephone Exchange itself, the lines 

were going out on the next floor, is that correct? 

A. Well, the cable chamber was in the basement, so all the 

cable chambers from the external area came into the cable 

chamber and then they went, they were carried on ladders up 

through the various floors to the Exchange equipment on 

whatever floor, yes. 

Q. And I think the cable chamber was very subject to flooding, 81

is that correct? 

A. It could be, yeah.  Well, there is quite a lot of 

underground pipes coming into it, which are obviously below 

ground level, and they can, in times of flood, they can 

carry water, so normally they have plugs in the actual 

ducts to stop this happening. 

Q. And there was a pump down there as well? 82

A. I can't say, but I would imagine almost certainly there 

would be, yes. 

Q. I think there wasn't any power supply in the cable chamber? 83
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A. Probably not, for safety reasons, yes.

Q. Yes.  And I think that there was a gas meter to indicate 84

the presence of gas, if needs be, because methane gas was a 

problem? 

A. Yes, that would be standard practice, yes.

Q. And was the door to this chamber locked normally? 85

A. No, I wouldn't think so no, no. 

Q. And what sort of people would need access to the cable 86

chamber? 

A. Well, practically all the Telecom Eireann technicians and 

engineers would require access to it, particularly the 

jointers, that would be the main area for their work, in 

connecting these cables, the technicians working on the 

actual electronic equipment, the E10 Exchange which was 

there, would have reason to go there as well.  So 

practically all the engineering staff would have reason, at 

one time or another, to go there, yes. 

Q. So there would be regular traffic up and down? 87

A. There would be, yes, yes. 

Q. Now, I think that -- you saw and discussed with the 88

Tribunal matters described in the Phoenix, the original 

Phoenix magazine which has been the subject of some comment 

and evidence recently? 

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. And it suggested that someone went down, gained access, 89

went into the cable chamber, cut the sheath of one of the 

cables to a distance of your -- your colleague suggested 

would have to be about a metre or two, in a 400 pair cable, 

and went in and pulled out private wires and connected them 

to a recording device which was left in a Megger box and 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

Smithwick Tribunal - 10 November 2011 - Day 52

Doyle Court Reporters Ltd.

19

left there recording information.  The article then went on 

to say that a heat sheath was put over the slit in the 

cable and effectively that they were eavesdropping on a 

Garda private wire.  Now, if we could just go back to the 

beginning of that.  A private wire is just a line between 

two parties, isn't that correct? 

A. Yeah, it's a line between A and B, in this case between the 

Garda station in Dundalk and the RUC station in Newry, and 

it's not accessible to any outside party, just as the 

public switch telephone network is. 

Q. So, if the guards in Newry have an emergency, they pick up 90

the phone and they are straightaway on -- 

A. Exactly.  

Q. I think at the time there was not a private wire between 91

Armagh, where Breen and Buchanan were travelling from, and 

Dundalk, is that correct? 

A. No, not to my knowledge, no, no. 

Q. No.  And if -- where would the details of the private -- 92

there were quite a few private wires in Dundalk, weren't 

there? 

A. Oh, well, there was quite a network of private wires, 

commercially people would pay for private wires on some 

occasions commercially. 

Q. Jewellers, for example, would have them? 93

A. Yes. 

Q. Banks would have them? 94

A. Yes. 

Q. So are we talking about several hundred private wires at 95

that stage? 

A. In a place like Dundalk, you could be into a few hundred, 
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possibly, yes, yes. 

Q. Yes.  And where were the records of those private wires 96

kept? 

A. Well, they would be kept -- 

Q. Or how would you identify them, in other words?  97

A. Well, they would be in the -- the cable records -- first of 

all, those private wires would be identifiable on the cable 

cards, which contain all the information for the cables, 

and there may have been a separate listing of private wires 

kept in an office in that building. 

Q. Yes.  But they weren't lying around for people to check? 98

A. No, generally not, no. 

Q. And I think they were identified by number, is that so? 99

A. They would be, yes.

Q. And there was absolutely nothing, there was no difference 100

between them and other telephone lines, except that they 

had a different function, is that right? 

A. Exactly, yes, yes.

Q. Yes.  So, to all intents and purposes, they looked the same 101

as any of the other wires? 

A. Oh to look at, yeah, you couldn't distinguish, yes. 

Q. So you would have to get their number if you were, for 102

example, looking for the Garda private wire or anything to 

do with the Garda, you would have to get access to the 

office and see these cards? 

A. Yes.

Q. That were kept securely, one assumes?103

A. Yes, you would. 

Q. Then the article went on to describe slitting one of the 104

large cables down below in the underground basement, and I 
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think that in order to access any wires, specific wires in 

that and to get some manoeuvrability, one would have to 

make an opening of about a metre or two, is that so? 

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. And one would have to pull out the wires individually? 105

A. That's right. 

Q. And then once that -- once there was -- these wires are 106

pressurised, I understand, and therefore if there was a cut 

in the cable, an alarm system is activated, is that so? 

A. True, that's correct. 

Q. And that was called the Drallim machine? 107

A. Yeah, that was the manufacturer's name, yeah, Drallim 

machine, yes. 

Q. And that would have resounded loudly or visually how did 108

that work?  - 

A. It generally had a bell, an audible alarm, and there would 

have been a visual indication as well, yes.  

Q. And that would be an indication of a problem down in the 109

cable chamber? 

A. It would be, yes. 

Q. And presumably, that wouldn't switch off until the matter 110

was sorted? 

A. Not until there was a manual intervention, yes. 

Q. I think that one of the previous witnesses said that it 111

would, that it would take about four hours to close up and 

seal that with a heat sheath, if such were the case.  Would 

you agree or would you think it would take less time? 

A. Well, if you were to do it professionally, you are talking 

about possibly a few hours, yes. 

Q. Yes.  And presumably if you were doing that, the alarm is 112
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constantly sounding?  If one were trying to do that in a 

discreet matter, it wouldn't be possible? 

A. No, not possible, no. 

Q. No.  And also, in order to carry out that -- that 113

procedure, one would have to take a gas cylinder into the 

cable chamber? 

A. Yes, that is true, yes, mm-hmm. 

Q. Because in order to heat the plastic around the shoulder, 114

the sleeve, it would have to be done by gas, a -- 

A. That's right, yeah.  

Q. -- torch?  And that would have to be brought in past the 115

people at the main gate? 

A. It would, yes, yes. 

Q. Yes.  Now, in relation to the manner described in the 116

article, I think it's said that a wire then was diverted 

into a recording device which was kept in a Megger box? 

A. Mm-hmm. 

Q. Now, a Megger box I think was described by one of the 117

parties as like as rare as hen's teeth at the time, is that 

correct? 

A. Well, a Megger is a very -- a fairly old piece of technical 

equipment used to pressure-test cables from a voltage point 

of view, so this would have been the box for that piece of 

equipment, so it would have been a very elaborate box and 

would go back quite a time, yes.

Q. And it's heavy and about the size of a car battery? 118

A. Yes, that is true. 

Q. And I think they are very expensive pieces of equipment, 119

isn't that so?

A. They would be, yes. 
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Q. I think at present they are about €�3,000? 120

A. I have no idea what they would be at present. 

Q. And I think if you were using a Megger box, you would be 121

guarding it very carefully, isn't that so? 

A. Yes, you would, yes, yes. 

Q. And I think that the employees of Eircom and Telecom have 122

to account for equipment that they are using, isn't that 

so?

A. Yes, they have an audit book with a record of all their 

tools and equipment, yes. 

Q. And I think at the time in 1989, they weren't -- there 123

weren't enough of these boxes, they had to be shared by 

teams, isn't that so? 

A. I can't say for definite, but that is a likely scenario, 

yes.

Q. So it's unlikely that one of those would be just sitting 124

there in the cable chamber with traffic going in and out? 

A. It wouldn't be very common, yes.  It wouldn't be very 

likely, no. 

Q. Well, would it be likely that it would sit there from 1987 125

to 1989 undetected? 

A. No, no. 

Q. Now, I think that in your statement you said that you 126

described -- you said that the matters described in Phoenix 

magazine are technically and theoretically possible but in 

your opinion the probability factor was low?

A. Extremely low, yes. 

Q. And I think that you would agree with your colleagues that 127

if you wanted to tap a phone line, there was a much less 

elaborate and less cumbersome way of doing it? 
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A. Certainly. 

Q. And I think that your colleagues gave evidence in the last 128

week or so about being able to -- you could take at the 

mainframe, you could put a jumper wire and tap, intercept 

there -- 

A. Exactly, yes. 

Q.  -- much easier -- 129

A. Yes, exactly.  Very simple, yeah.

Q.  -- than this very cumbersome procedure described in 130

Phoenix.  You also said that the first time you ever heard 

about the suggestion of phone tapping was about two years 

prior to when you spoke to the Tribunal first, in June 

2007, and you said:  "If there had been any whisper of IRA 

tapping in Dundalk, it would have been huge.  If I had even 

got a whiff of a similar type of story I would have 

involved the Investigation Branch in the GPO.  If Gerry 

Finnegan found something, the information would come up 

through the ranks as a courtesy to me, I believe Gerry 

would have told me.  The bureaucratic niceties would always 

be observed except in the event of an emergency.  It is 

very unlikely that Gerry Finnegan would go straight to the 

IB" -- that's the Investigation Branch -- "most reporting 

would be done by myself due to the sensitivity of security 

matters."  

I think that that was your view at the time? 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. Now, I think that as a result of the evidence that was 131

given in public very recently by some of your colleagues, 

that Phoenix have come out with another article in their 
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magazine, and a slightly different version of how they say 

or how they say that their source says that the matter has 

-- and perhaps I could put up that on the screen, because I 

would appreciate your comments on that, as an expert.  

(Document handed to the witness.) 

Now, I think that the -- we may as well go through it and 

perhaps you might comment as you see fit, Mr. O'Halloran.  

A. OK. 

Q. It states:  "Smithwick Tribunal and The Phoenix" -- and 132

it's dated the 4th of November.  "In evidence at the 

Smithwick Tribunal inquiry into the 1989 killing of two 

senior RUC officers, telecoms experts pooh-poohed The 

Phoenix investigation in 2005 that concluded the IRA had 

tapped Dundalk Garda Station phones via the local telephone 

exchange.  'Not possible... a load of rubbish... too 

complicated' were just some of the dismissive remarks made 

by Telecoms witnesses and a Garda officer, all of whom 

agreed that subversives did not have such expertise.  

While the official experts may know lots about legitimate 

communications, their knowledge of Improvised 

Communications Interception (ICT) - like their knowledge of 

Improvised Explosive Devices (IED) - at which the Provos 

were long acknowledged world experts (see British Army 

training manuals on same) is less so.  For example, 

Smithwick was told it would be impossible to locate a 

specific circuit in a large (say 800 pair) cable.  If the 

Provo tappers couldn't find the lines they wanted to tap 

they would not have been able to intercept them.  So the 
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Dundalk tapping didn't happen, say the experts.  Nonsense.  

The key piece of equipment used to track a cable or the 

wires inside a cable is called an oscillator (size of a 

mobile phone)."  

Now, can you describe to us, Mr. O'Halloran, what an 

oscillator is? 

A. Well, an oscillator is a very -- it was a piece of 

equipment that generates a signal and this is in existence 

since the start of telecommunications engineering 

practically.  And you can, if you can take one end of a 

cable where you identify a pair of wires, you can 

connect -- let's say you have a 300 pair cable and you 

pick, let's say, a pair, 97, if you connect the oscillator 

to that pair, then you could go miles out the country, and 

where the cable is, is opened up, you could use a sensor 

device which accompanies the oscillator to detect that 

particular pair. 

Q. So you'd be using it to detect -- if you were working on a 133

cable, is that right -- 

A. Yes. 

Q.  -- in the country, and a quick way of dealing with the 134

wires that are -- the pair, perhaps, that are giving the 

problem, you'd start at one end and you'd use the 

oscillator, and then at the other end, it would obviously 

vibrate, I presume that's where the word comes from? 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. And you could identify at the other end -- 135

A. Correct, yes.

Q.  -- which were the pair that originated at the beginning? 136
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A. Exactly. 

Q. But presumably you need somebody at both ends, do you? 137

A. Well, no, the one person could do it.  They would put the 

oscillator on, for example, on this main distribution frame 

in the Exchange and then go a few miles out the country 

with their sensor device to, say, a distribution cabinet or 

to a pole and they could sense the signal on the pair of 

wires.  Normally, the records would identify, would be the 

first port of call, but if there was an error in the 

jointing or some other problem, this might be used to - or 

a fault on the cable - this could be used to track a 

particular pair of wires, yes.

Q. Yes.  So you are sending a signal at one end and you are 138

receiving it at the other? 

A. Exactly, yes. 

Q. But you could use that to go in and find out -- to break 139

open, for example, as Phoenix said, open a cable and look 

for two specific wires in it? 

A. No. 

Q. Even if you had their numbers? 140

A. If you had a big thick cable with hundreds of wires in it 

and you put this oscillator, say, at the main distribution 

frame and then you tried to use it where you'd open the 

cable, it just wouldn't work because it wouldn't make 

sense, the pairs are in too close a proximity.  This would 

only work where all the pairs are spatially removed from 

each other and you could identify the signal on one or the 

other.  To do it the way it's described here would be a 

practical impossibility; it just wouldn't work. 

Q. So it goes horizontally or vertically along the length of 141
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the cable? 

A. The cable, yes.

Q. So it's not possible to go in mid-section and identify?  142

A. Not without breaking out the cable.  All the 800 wires or 

whatever, hundreds of wires are in the cable individually, 

yes. 

Q. So this is -- how would you describe this? 143

A. This is a nonsense statement. 

Q. Nonsense.  Now, it goes on to say then two solicitors -- 144

something about, yes, "Two solicitors (O'Hares of Belfast 

and Hugh James in South Wales)."  It goes on to describe a 

class action on behalf of technicians who use oscillators 

and amplifiers during their working life with BT.  

"The affidavits in more than 20 actions (settling for 

£12,000 each approx) should be on Justice Smithwick's 

reading list and given a reference in his final report."  

Why, I don't know.  "The class action itself is not 

relevant, but the technical detail of the cases is.  They 

show that oscillators were standard kit with all jointing 

teams, as they continued to be in Eircom, BT and in private 

contractors who renew cables."  

I think you would agree with that? 

A. Correct, like a hammer or screwdriver or pliers. 

Q. Yes.  "An oscillator can track a cable and an individual 145

pair of wires in a cable from Newry to Dundalk:  no 

bother."  I think you'd agree with that as well, if you are 

doing it right? 

A. Correct, yeah.  Factually correct, yeah.  

Q. And that is in fact what they are used for, is that 146

correct? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And then it goes on about Colonel Clive Fairweather, and 147

it's sort of describing the provision of the most organised 

guerilla force he had ever seen.  Then it goes on to say:  

"No employee of Eircom or any of its contractors were 

involved in the deniable unit tapping at Dundalk".  

Now, I don't know whether he is saying that -- no, his 

information was that there were no employees involved, I'm 

not quite sure of that.  But, "BT-trained jointers (also 

known as U/G staff) were widely available to the IRA for a 

generation."  Now, that is not something you can comment 

on, I presume, either.  It goes on to describe where 

they're trained.  As a matter of interest, were there any 

BT employees, BT-trained employees in Dundalk when you were 

there? 

A. No, no.  I mean, there were indirectly.  I could say that 

we had a number of staff on the staff of Telecom Eireann 

working as contractors in the UK doing work for BT, so 

maybe they might have got occasionally maybe some training 

there, but generally very little, you know.  They might 

have got specific training on a particular job, you know, 

but generally they weren't sent there for training. 

Q. And it was notable when talking to the various staff 148

members, because obviously the Tribunal has interviewed 

about 35 members of Telecom, and the people giving evidence 

are a representative group, it was significant that most 

people had spent their lives working together in Dundalk; 

you all knew each other very well? 

A. Yes, that would be the case, yes. 

Q. And there wasn't -- there weren't people going and coming 149
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in the telecommunications business like, for example, there 

is nowadays? 

A. No, generally not, no, no. 

Q. You had all gone in together and stayed? 150

A. They would be lifers, yes, yes. 

Q. Am I correct in thinking that the -- there was a different 151

system in Dundalk, in any event, from BT; it was digital in 

Dundalk and with BT in England, had they a different system 

at that stage? 

A. They would have another version of a digital system. 

Q. But they weren't identical? 152

A. No, no. 

Q. The Ramparts was a French system, is that correct? 153

A. That's correct, an E10 French system, yes. 

Q. Now, this article, you can appreciate the reason we have to 154

deal with these is because these are allegations made in 

public and obviously everything has to be -- it's a public 

inquiry and everything has to be looked at when it comes 

into the public domain.  It goes on then to describe the 

best examples of improvised communication interception.  I 

don't think that is relevant.  And then, the next paragraph 

says:  "One difficulty with the Dundalk tapping (as well as 

that in Belfast East Exchange) was that it had to be 

transferred to an untraceable place where it could be 

monitored securely.  Using improvised tactics, this could 

be ten miles or more away - or any distance required - via 

metal roadside connection boxes called Cabinets."  

Now, this was something that was raised by Telecom 

personnel giving evidence in the last two weeks, that this 

was a preferable -- an easier way of doing it, if you like, 
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if you ran a jumper from the MDF to an outside line where 

somebody could actually listen? 

A. Mm-hmm. 

Q. And, of course, you would agree that the recording device 155

and the system as described in the original Phoenix article 

was of a historical nature? 

A. Yes. 

Q. In other words, they were listening to things that were 156

recorded the day before? 

A. Happened before.

Q. Happened before.  So it was of no benefit in realtime? 157

A. No, no. 

Q. So it goes on to say then "These are termination points for 158

cables of all sorts including subscribers home lines.  They 

are a hotch potch of new and old - a rabbit warren of 

jumpers connecting suburban subscribers lines with main 

exchange cables, spare lines and abandoned links which have 

been replaced by newer cables because of partial faults.  

Just the place to hide away a covert connection.  Cabinets 

stand alone and unguarded, often secured only by a spigot 

key of the sort used to close a gas meter in a suburban 

front garden.  A two-person IRA party working at a Cabinet 

- to transfer the tapped line to another cabinet or 

elsewhere - would attract no attention." 

Now, it seems to suggest now that this was another way that 

the IRA were, if you like, eavesdropping, that they were 

tapping cabinets?  

A. Mm-hmm. 

Q. Now, this is, presumably, technically possible? 159
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A. Technically possible, yes. 

Q. But would it be difficult enough to leave a jumper wire in 160

a cabinet undetected for a time? 

A. Well, you probably could get away -- you see, these 

cabinets would only be visited by Eircom technicians when 

they had to do -- either extend the network or to deal with 

fault situations, so it could be there for a period, but 

before this would work, first of all, someone would have to 

actually get into the Exchange and pass the security 

barriers that we have mentioned, and they would have to run 

a jumper wire from the private wire that was supposed to 

have been eavesdropped, to this cable going out to the 

country somewhere, and they would have to camouflage that 

and then they would have to go out to this cabinet and set 

themselves up as imposters, like, maybe, dress, or tents, 

or something like Telecom Eireann technicians, so -- even 

though that would have been the obvious way to do it, it 

would still have required quite an amount of ingenuity.  

And the private wire, then, to the best of my knowledge, 

even if you did eavesdrop on it, the information on it was 

encrypted or scrambled, so that even if you did tap it, 

unless you knew how to unscramble it or to decrypt it, you 

couldn't get any intelligence from it. 

Q. But of course if the scrambler wasn't on, then it -- 161

A. If the scrambler wasn't on; yes, you could. 

Q. When one got to the cabinet then, if this is the system 162

suggested, did you have to jump it out then, put a jumper 

wire into the cabinet to yet another line? 

A. You would have to -- you could extend it to another line or 

you could extend it into a jointer's tent where someone 
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could sit in a tent alongside the road or on the street and 

with a pair of headphones and listen to what was taking 

place, yes, yes. 

Q. Yes.  It says then:  "It may be difficult politically and 163

professionally for the Special Branch and others to admit 

that the IRA tapped their phones, but the claim that it was 

not technically feasible is simply untrue.  Goldhawk was 

told that having got into the exchange in Dundalk in 1987 

the two IRA jointers climbed the 20-foot travelling ladders 

at each side of the Main Distribution Frame (MDF) to the 

layers of silk and cotton internal cables neatly 

hand-stitched like a thatch."  

Now, that seems to be a new version of events and probably 

a devious tactic.  While we have been looking down the 

cable chamber, apparently they were climbing up into the 

ceiling.  So perhaps Mr. Mills could show us some of the 

photographs so that the members of the public can see what 

the MDF looks like.  Number 56, please, Mr. Mills.  I 

think, if you could go down a little bit, we can see from 

the bottom up.  I think that is the Main Distribution 

Frame, is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. If we can go up to the top, we can see that -- are these 164

plastic cables up at the top there?

A. They would be plastic cables, yes. 

Q. And if we could go on to photograph number 58, which is 165

turned the other way, Mr. Mills.  Now, that is the top of 

the MDF there, and again, one can see where the cables are 

going up into the next floor? 
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A. That's correct.  They are going up to the Exchange 

equipment. 

Q. Yes.  Now, I don't see what would amount there to "layers 166

of silk and cotton internal cables neatly hand-stitched 

like a thatch"?  

A. Well, silk and cotton cables would have been more the 

old-fashioned cables.  Most of the cables at that stage 

would have been plastic installation on the outside and on 

the individual wires.  Now, I can't say for absolute 

certain that there wasn't silk and cotton, but generally 

that would not have been the case.  Plastic had come in as 

the insulation material generally at that stage. 

Q. Yes.  And I think this was a new Exchange in 1984? 167

A. It was.

Q. This was only five years later? 168

A. Yes. 

Q. But they did exist at some stage prior to the introduction 169

of plastic? 

A. They would have, yes. 

Q. And I think this is probably a matter that could be checked 170

out? 

A. It can be verified, yes.

Q. "Each silk and cotton cable connects to cables running out 171

of the exchange.  Slicing through the fabric-covered silk 

and cotton for 12 inches, the material was peeled back 

until the target pair was identified by means of an 

oscillator tone (aka a chirper)."  

Now, do you have any comments to make about that? 

A. Well, it just doesn't make sense.  I don't see why someone 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

Smithwick Tribunal - 10 November 2011 - Day 52

Doyle Court Reporters Ltd.

35

would want to slice into the depths and the core of a big 

thick cable when what they were looking for was already 

exposed, sitting on -- 

Q. Further down? 172

A. Further down available to them.  So this would have been a 

complete waste of effort.  And the oscillator, in this 

case -- "The target pair was identified by means of an 

oscillator tone", the oscillator just wouldn't have worked 

in that scenario. 

Q. So while they were climbing up the cable frame, they were, 173

in fact, passing by the wires, the strip wires as they came 

in from the cable chamber? 

A. That's correct, they were on the frame available, yes. 

Q. They were on the frame? 174

A. Yes. 

Q. So they didn't need to carry out again a very elaborate and 175

cumbersome procedure? 

A. No, I mean, quite simple, quite simply done. 

Q. So what would be your overall view of this paragraph? 176

A. Well, it just doesn't make sense.  It seems a nonsense to 

me. 

Q. Yes.  Now, it goes on to say:  "One piece of evidence 177

offered to the Tribunal was that tampering with the 

air-pressured cable would have set off an alarm.  As 

recounted by Goldhawk (see The Phoenix 17/6/11 and passim), 

the IRA heat shrinked a repair sleeve and nozzle onto the 

cable to avoid a tell-tale loss of air."  

Now, I think we have dealt with this already, but in 

relation to the previous paragraph here, if an IRA man 
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sliced through the silk and cotton for 12 inches, would 

that, in itself, activate an alarm? 

A. It depends on where -- if the cable at that particular 

point had the sheath on it and it was pressurised, it would 

activate an alarm.  If the cable -- if the external sheath 

was removed from the cable at that point, it wouldn't 

activate an alarm, it would be beyond the pressure barrier. 

Q. Right.  And we have dealt already with the -- that it did 178

create -- once there is interference with the cable the 

alarm was set off? 

A. What it says in the article here is they put a sleeve on to 

stop the alarm, but I mean, the minute you slice the cable 

the pressure has been released and the alarm comes on.  So, 

if you subsequently put on a sleeve, it's just to no 

purpose, it doesn't make sense. 

Q. Can you explain what the repair sleeves were normally used 179

for? 

A. Well, the repair sleeves normally were used for sealing at 

a joint.  In other words, there was a plastic sleeve that 

went over a cable at a joint and by heating it, the 

thermo-plastic material shrunk in size and gave you a 

watertight and an air-pressure-tight joint. 

Q. Would it be used if you were adding cable? 180

A. You could use it when you were adding cable, yes, or you 

could use it for what they're talking about here, if you 

had a leak in a cable you could use it to seal the cable, 

but then after putting this on and sealing the cable you 

would have to repressurise it, you know, or the alarm would 

still continue. 

Q. Yes.  But I assume that if this had happened, that there 181
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would be evidence of it there?  

A. Absolutely, it would still be there. 

Q. It would be still there.  And I think the same cables have 182

been there since 1984? 

A. They would be, generally, yes. 

Q. And would you be surprised to learn that they have been -- 183

there have been searches carried out.  Absolutely no 

evidence of such a procedure has been -- 

A. I didn't know that because I haven't been there. 

Q. It goes on to say:  "The target pair was removed from the 184

cable.  Its paper and enamel insulation was removed - a 

6lbs copper wire is attached by means of a twist joint.  

This was then crimped for a secure permanent electrical 

connection".  What does that mean? 

A. Well, it just doesn't make sense, really.  In other words, 

going to all this difficulty of, in other words, going into 

-- digging into a cable, creating a leak, trying to -- with 

almost impossible odds at finding a particular pair, 

jointing a six pound copper wire, this just refers to the 

gauge of a jumper wire, putting that on to it and twisting 

it to make a good connection and then putting a paper 

sleeve over it to insulate it, it's just nonsensical.

Q. So is the methodology described, is that obviously -- is 185

that something one would do? 

A. It's a methodology that would be used but not in this 

particular situation.  

Q. So is it a case of a little knowledge being a dangerous 186

thing in the description? 

A. It may be someone got a story from someone and just either 

misunderstood or -- 
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Q. I see.  "An insulating paper sleeve was then slipped over 187

the connection and this tapped link was placed inside its 

parent cable - and the cut-away silk and cotton fabric 

pulled tight to create the impression the original cable 

had never been opened."  

I think that your views on that, you have already given 

your views on that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. "The mark of perfection, though, came from the use of Denso 188

tape.  This is a grey, oozing two-inch wide, 

water-protective fabric tape used extensively in U/G works 

in BT and Eircom.  Binding it tightly on the internal cable 

and burying it in the inches of dust on top of the Frame 

gave cover that ensured the tap would be extremely 

difficult to find."  

Now, what are your views on that? 

A. Well, my views on that, Denso tape is, as it mentions here, 

it's a wide tape, a sticky tape, sticky on both surfaces, 

and it's normally used to seal an electrical cable of any 

type in an external environment to protect it from the 

ingress of moisture or water, but it would have absolutely 

no function whatsoever here.  This would be just plain 

stupid and nonsensical to use this here because apart -- it 

wouldn't be solving any problem, it would have no purpose.  

And to put it in would attract attention to it because any 

technician or anyone looking for a difficulty would just 

spot this and know that this was totally non-standard 

practice just serving no purpose at all, no.  So it just 
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wouldn't make sense.  It says in the last sentence here, it 

says that this was put on to make it "extremely difficult 

to find".  It would have quite the opposite effect; it 

would highlight it. 

Q. What colour is Denso tape? 189

A. It's a greyish black, greyish black. 

Q. What is your view of both of the articles? 190

A. Well, reading both of the articles, whilst I have said in 

my statement that technically and theoretically it is 

possible to tap lines, you know, but anything I have read 

in these two articles wouldn't lead me to believe that 

there was any tapping or even -- I wouldn't even have a 

suspicion based on any evidence.  There is no evidence in 

these articles to lead me to believe that there was any 

tapping.  

Q. And presumably, with most people working in The Ramparts, 191

as you said, for life, if such a thing had happened, when 

it was discovered everybody would have known about it?

A. Absolutely, this would have been treated extremely serious, 

and it's not a thing anybody would have forgotten, no, no.  

And especially, just -- if it was mentioned in the context 

of the atrocity which took place, I mean that would never 

have been forgotten.  This would have been a major, major 

investigation and nothing like that happened.

MRS. LAVERTY:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Halloran.  
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THE WITNESS WAS CROSS-EXAMINED BY MR. McGUINNESS

AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MR. McGUINNESS:  Good morning, my name is Diarmuid 192

McGuinness, and I appear for An Garda Siochana.  As I 

understand it, you served for 35 years or just over 35 

years with Eircom, as it became?  

A. That's correct, that's correct. 

Q. You ended up as District Manager, and retired from that 193

position in 1999? 

A. Correct. 

Q. But you held that position as District Manager in 1988? 194

A. That's correct. 

Q. And in 1989? 195

A. That's correct. 

Q. And 1990, obviously? 196

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. And with responsibility for this area? 197

A. That's right, yes. 

Q. And am I correct in saying that you would have been a 198

superior of Mr. Finnegan's? 

A. True, that's correct, yes. 

Q. And at the time we are talking about, he would have been 199

the Area Engineering Manager in charge of the maintenance 

of Dundalk? 

A. Correct, yes. 

Q. And he would have reported to the Superintendent Engineer, 200

is that right? 

A. He would have reported to either an executive engineer or 

engineering executive, yes. 
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Q. And the Executive Engineer at that time was Mr. Alan Cox?201

A. That could have been the case yeah, yeah. 

Q. And then he would have reported, in turn, to the Assistant 202

Staff Engineer, Mr. Frank McEvoy? 

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. And Mr. McEvoy would report to you? 203

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. But in the evidence that you have given to the Chairman, I 204

mean, you were -- you went in to the P&T as a trainee 

technician? 

A. Correct. 

Q. But you have got an impressive list of professional 205

qualifications.  You are a chartered engineer, isn't that 

right? 

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. With a Master's degree in engineering? 206

A. That's correct. 

Q. And you are a fellow of the Institute of Engineers of 207

Ireland? 

A. That's correct, yes. 

Q. So when you are talking about technical matters to the 208

Chairman, you are qualified to speak about all of those 

matters professionally? 

A. Yes, correct, yes. 

Q. And you also, obviously, were in charge of this district 209

for those eleven years? 

A. Eleven years, correct. 

Q. You knew Mr. Finnegan well, then, I take it?210

A. I did, yes, yes. 

Q. And can you offer an opinion to the Chairman, if he had 211
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found either a tap or an intercept or a jumper of any sort, 

would he be likely to have reported that? 

A. Absolutely, yes, he would have, yes. 

Q. Would you have become aware of that if that had happened? 212

A. I believe I would, yes. 

Q. Yes.  213

CHAIRMAN:  You didn't become aware of it?

  

Q. MR. McGUINNESS:  You didn't become aware of it?  214

A. No, I didn't. 

Q. And would it be fair to say in summary that at no stage 215

were you ever made aware of any alleged interception 

relating to any Garda wires or anything else at this period 

in time? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, insofar as the methods described in the different 216

Phoenix articles are concerned, scientifically and as a 

matter of theory they are all possible, that would be your 

opinion on that? 

A. No, what I'd say is that scientifically and in theory it is 

possible to tap lines but in practice to do it in the way 

in which the Phoenix article said, is I would say virtually 

impossible. 

Q. Yes.  And moving from the cable chamber to intercepting 217

cables, moving to the MDF and now apparently moving to the 

top of the cables of the MDF, do you believe that any of 

that occurred at all? 

A. Well, I have no evidence to -- that would lead me to 

believe that it occurred.
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Q. And in fact, would all of the evidence available suggest to 218

you that it didn't occur? 

A. Well, as I understand now from the Tribunal today, checks 

had been made on the basis of what was given as factual 

information, which has been found to be incorrect, so in 

other words, that if it was done in the manner in which 

they have described, there should be certainly evidence or 

some fastidious evidence that something happened, yes. 

Q. And the latest story published using an oscillator at some 219

parts of The Ramparts, whether on the MDF or otherwise, you 

couldn't use an oscillator to find a pair of wires like 

that? 

A. Not in the circumstances described, no.

CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  

MR. COFFEY:  No questions.  

MS. O'SULLIVAN:  No questions.  

MRS. LAVERTY:  Thank you very much.  

CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Halloran.  You have 

been a great help to us and I am grateful to you.  

MRS. LAVERTY:  The next witness is Mr. Cumisky, Chairman.  

He will be very brief.  
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THOMAS CUMISKY, HAVING BEEN SWORN, WAS EXAMINED BY

MRS. LAVERTY AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MRS. LAVERTY:  I am Mary Laverty, counsel for the Tribunal.  220

I think that you have been 39 years with Eircom, is that 

right?  

A. 41 now. 

Q. Are you still working with them? 221

A. Still working with them. 

Q. Well done.  I think that you are probably one of the few 222

people we met who did find a phone tap at some stage? 

A. That's right, yes. 

Q. And perhaps you could tell us about that? 223

A. It was out very -- it was probably in the area that we do, 

it was the nearest area to Crossmaglen.  It was out, it was 

on -- on the very last sub, very last telephone line on 

this particular road, and the lookout post was very close 

to it.  And the line -- it was a fault I was going to on a 

line, a chap called Daly, I can't remember his first name 

even, but there was an interception on the pole. 

Q. How did you get called out? 224

A. There was a fault on the line.

Q. And obviously the householder was complaining? 225

A. This fault was on the line.  It was on the line for a 

couple of weeks at the time, and it was -- it seemed to be 

intermittent, you know, and normally it was Gerry Sloan 

that used to do that area, but I happened to be called out 

anyway.  That would be normal, you know. 

Q. Mm-hmm. 226

A. So I had been out on the fault anyway.  I went up on the 
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pole and there was a pair of wires coming down the back of 

the pole and going down in the grass, heading north, but 

there was no other telephone lines.  And I was suspicious 

of it.  But it goes to show how naive I was, I was pulling 

the wire out of the ground, which was stupid to be doing, 

you know.

Q. Which was buried, once it had gone down -- 227

A. Number one, it wasn't telephone wire, it was bell wire.  It 

was the sort of wire you use for a bell of a door, it 

wasn't Telecom wire.  But the first suspicion I had was 

that it was a tap on a telephone line, but in the meantime 

the owner of the house came out and I was pulling this -- I 

thought he had an extension, you know, to an outhouse or a 

garage or something like that or another house, but that 

wasn't the case.  But it was a tap.  And the reason I say 

it was a tap, was that one wire was intercepted, only one 

wire; that if you wanted to use it for a telephone, you'd 

normally take in a tapping of the two wires, but you took 

it of one wire.  So it would mean that the only time the 

current would flow through that circuit would be when the 

person would lift off at the house.  So, I have reason to 

believe it was a tap. 

Q. And what benefit would that be then to somebody who was 228

listening at the other end?  How far away could they be? 

A. You could put a device on that and you could pick it up 

probably -- I wouldn't know the distance, but probably 

miles. 

Q. Yes.  And that was operational when you found it? 229

A. No, no, it wasn't. 

Q. It wasn't? 230
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A. No, but the wire -- the evidence was there. 

Q. The evidence was there? 231

A. Yes. 

Q. Yes.  I think that you were aware of the layout of the 232

Garda station as well.  Did you have to go in and out of 

there on occasions? 

A. I did. 

Q. Servicing or correcting faults? 233

A. That's right. 

Q. And I think that the Gardaí had their own technical staff 234

in relation to telecommunications, isn't that right? 

A. In those days, not really, no.  

Q. They didn't? 235

A. No, I wouldn't have thought -- I know in later years the 

Garda did use their own staff, but in those days we seemed 

to do, from my recollection, we used to do all of the 

maintenance on the telephone lines. 

Q. I see.  And if you were going in to do maintenance, what 236

sort of clearance were you required to produce? 

A. Well, I would produce my ID, but most of them, I would know 

them and they would know me, so I wouldn't produce it if 

they knew me, but it was the fact I used to go in there 

fairly regular because at that particular time, when I was 

in the Garda barracks, all the alarms went through the 

Garda barracks, which was private wires as well, a private 

wire from every bank, from every shop that was nearly -- 

that was the alarms at that particular time, there was no 

such things as, now, where you have Digiweb. 

Q. Telephone Watch and all that? 237

A. Much more sophisticated stuff. 
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Q. I think the MDF was down in the basement, is that right, 238

downstairs?

A. It wasn't really an MDF, it was only a box.  It was only a 

box for connecting wires. 

Q. And when the alarms went off then, would you have to go in 239

and do something? 

A. Yes, sometimes, yes.  Not all the time.  You see, the 

alarm, the way the alarm worked, it worked from the bank to 

the MDF to the barracks, and there was a little light in 

the Communications Room, and the guard would know when this 

particular little light went red, that that was the alarm 

went off in the bank or the shop or wherever it was. 

Q. Yes.  And would it have been easy to, for example, 240

intercept phone lines in the Garda station? 

A. No. 

Q. No.  Why not? 241

A. Well, it's not that it's not easy; it's possible to 

intercept phones anywhere, but it was like the Phoenix 

tribunal [sic] -- on those private wires that the guards 

were using, there was a scrambler on those units and it 

was -- to me, it was physically impossible, and that is why 

I said it was a load of nonsense at the time, you know.  

Q. Now, having selected -- say, somebody were to take a pair 242

of wires out, for example the distribution box outside the 

Garda station, did you ever have to check that out? 

A. I did, yeah. 

Q. And was it fairly frequent? 243

A. Fairly frequent, yeah. 

Q. Because I presume that that serviced all the houses in the 244

area? 
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A. It did, yes, that's right. 

Q. So if there had been a jumper in that or some illegal 245

intercept, would you have noticed that in the distribution 

box? 

A. Yes, I would, yes. 

Q. You think you would? 246

A. But then, again, it could be there.  

Q. Yes.247

A. I wouldn't be there -- it could be there for a period of a 

week or two weeks, I wouldn't be there, you know.  Like 

there would be periods of time I wouldn't be there. 

Q. Yes, obviously.  248

A. Yes. 

Q. But the -- if there was a jumper there, obviously it would 249

be taking the line out to maybe a house somewhere else 

and -- what amount of expertise would that require? 

A. You would need -- it would need something like ourselves 

like, you know. 

Q. So you would need to have a certain level of expertise? 250

A. Yes, yes.  

Q. And to intercept any particular telephone line, what level 251

of expertise would you require, say in the MDF now or in 

the Exchange? 

A. I would say it'd probably be fair to say about half of the 

staff would be able to do it and half of them wouldn't be 

able to do it.  It just all depended on what you were 

working on.

Q. And the procedure as described in the Phoenix magazine 252

about cutting in and putting a repair heat sleeve on, how 

many people would be able to do that, technically? 
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A. A small proportion. 

Q. A small proportion? 253

A. About 20 percent, I suppose.

MRS. LAVERTY:  Yes.  Thank you very much indeed.  

THE WITNESS WAS CROSS-EXAMINED BY MR. McGUINNESS

AS FOLLOWS: 

Q. MR. McGUINNESS:  Just a couple of questions if you don't 254

mind.  I appear for An Garda Siochana.  Just in relation to 

the interception that you did find, I wonder would you look 

at this map and perhaps mark on it where that was.  If I 

ask the Registrar to put it on the -- if you could put your 

mark on it and then I will just show it on the screen.  

A. This is a small map, it might take me a while to figure it 

out.  It was out past Shelagh football field. 

Q. Yes.  Hackballscross is towards the bottom middle of that.  255

And then, if you could follow the road north from 

Hackballscross towards the border, which is marked in 

green.  (Witness indicates on map.)  Just show that to the 

Registrar.  (Map handed to the Registrar.)  Thank you.  

And, Mr. Cumisky, could you just confirm there, if you just 

zoom out a little and move it back down, thank you, just 

move it a bit to the right, the other way.  Mr. Cumisky, 

you see Hackballscross there? 

A. Yes.

Q. With the box in my ink around that, and I think you have 256

marked in blue there the approximate location -- 

A. That's right, yes. 
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Q.  -- of where -- very adjacent to the border? 257

A. Very adjacent to the border, yes. 

Q. And I think it's correct to say that after you discovered 258

this, I think you reported it to your Area Engineer and 

Superintendent, that was Mr. Finnegan? 

A. I reported it to Gerry Finnegan, yes.

Q. And Mr. Finnegan discussed that with you? 259

A. Yes. 

Q. And then you were interviewed in Hackballscross Garda 260

Station with an Inspector, I think from the Branch? 

A. That's right, yeah, with two Inspectors, I think. 

Q. With two Inspectors and Mr. Finnegan? 261

A. That's right, yeah.  

Q. And you have a recollection of making a statement about it 262

at the time? 

A. I have yes, yes.

Q. As I understand it, this dates back to perhaps the early 263

1980s? 

A. Yes, that would be correct. 

Q. And I think you date it to a time I think fairly 264

immediately after the Mountbatten bombing? 

A. That's correct, there was a write-up in the Sunday World 

about it, and I know that they implicated McMahon, who 

was -- 

Q. That was the man who was charged with it at that time? 265

A. Who was charged with it back then, that it was his line, 

but it wasn't his line. 

Q. In any event, this line had nothing to do with the Garda 266

station? 

A. Nothing to do with the Garda station. 
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Q. And you didn't in fact find a recording device on the wire 267

when you pulled it out of the grass? 

A. No. 

Q. And it's eight or nine years before the murders that the 268

Tribunal is concerned with? 

A. Correct. 

MR. McGUINNESS:  Thank you.  

MR. O'CALLAGHAN:  No questions.  

MR. COFFEY:  No questions.  

MS. O'SULLIVAN:  No questions.  

CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cumisky.  I am grateful 

to you for your help.  

MRS. LAVERTY:  I think that concludes the witnesses for 

today, Chairman.  

CHAIRMAN:  That is true.  So 11 o'clock tomorrow, then.  

Thank you very much.  

THE TRIBUNAL THEN ADJOURNED TO FRIDAY, THE 11TH OF

NOVEMBER, 2011, AT 11 A.M.
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